
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO 

 

Civil Action No.: 14-cv-00203 

 

CYNTHIA MULLEN,  

DEBBIE JOHNSON, and 

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado non-profit Corporation, 

 

Plaintiffs, 

 

v. 

 

PORTERCARE ADVENTIST HEALTHCARE SYSTEM d/b/a CENTURA HEALTH – 

PORTER ADVENTIST HOSPITAL, a Colorado non-profit Corporation,  

  and 

B.S.M.C. Limited Liability Company, d/b/a BROOKSIDE INN, a Colorado Limited Liability 

Company, 

 

 

Defendants. 

 

 

COMPLAINT 

 

 

Plaintiffs, Cynthia Mullen, Debbie Johnson and Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 

(“CCDC”), by and through undersigned counsel, hereby bring this Complaint against Portercare 

Adventist Healthcare System and B.S.M.C, for violations of the Americans with Disabilities Act 

(“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., and Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 

(“Section 504”), 29 U.S.C. § 794, et seq. 

Introduction  

1. On July 26, 1990, more than twenty years ago, the ADA was passed, establishing 

the most important civil rights law for people with disabilities in the nation’s history. 

2. The ADA was passed to ensure people with disabilities are not discriminated 
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against. 

3. One of the purposes of the ADA is ensuring that deaf or hard-of-hearing 

individuals receive qualified sign language interpreter services or other auxiliary aids and 

services to ensure effective communication. 

4. Title III of the ADA specifically applies to public accommodations, such as the 

Portercare Adventist Healthcare System d/b/a Centura Health – Porter Adventist Hospital 

(“Porter”), and B.S.M.C., LLC d/b/a Brookside Inn (“Brookside”), a rehabilitation facility. 

5. As set forth more fully below, Defendants discriminated against Ms. Mullen, Ms. 

Johnson, and other deaf and hard of hearing individuals, on the basis of disability by refusing to 

provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services necessary to ensure effective communication. 

6. Plaintiffs seek a court order compelling Defendants to comply with the ADA and 

Section 504, monetary damages and the recovery of their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

7. This Court has jurisdiction over the federal claims in this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1343. 

8. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391. 

 Parties 

9. Plaintiff Cynthia Mullen is and was at all times material hereto a resident of 

Colorado.  Ms. Mullen is deaf.  Ms. Mullen is a CCDC member. 

10. Plaintiff Debbie Johnson is and was at all times material hereto a resident of 

Colorado.  Ms. Johnson is a CCDC member. 
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11. Plaintiff CCDC is a Colorado non-profit corporation whose members are persons 

with disabilities and their non-disabled allies. 

12. Defendant Porter is a Colorado non-profit corporation doing business as Porter 

Adventist Hospital, located at 2525 South Downing Street, Denver, Colorado.   

13. Defendant Brookside is a Colorado limited liability company doing business as 

Brookside Inn, a rehabilitation facility, located at 1297 South Perry Street, Castle Rock, 

Colorado. 

Facts 

14. Ms. Mullen is deaf. 

15. Ms. Mullen communicates primarily in American Sign Language (“ASL”). 

16. ASL is a separate and distinct language from English, which uses its own unique 

phrases, descriptions, syntax and grammatical rules. 

17. Ms. Mullen does not speak, read or write effectively in English. 

18. Ms. Mullen does not effectively read lips. 

19. Ms. Mullen can write some words and phrases in English, but she does not 

understand most written communication. 

20. Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson are life partners. 

21. On December 27, 2012, Ms. Mullen was admitted to Porter. 

22. Ms. Mullen stayed at Porter from December 27, 2012 through her discharge on 

January 10, 2013. 

23. During Ms. Mullen’s stay at Porter, on January 3, 2013, she had surgery on her 
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right foot, which required her to remain in bed for an extended period of time. 

24. From Ms. Mullen’s admission to Porter on December 27, 2012, through January 

4, 2013, Porter routinely provided Ms. Mullen with qualified sign language interpreters for, inter 

alia, communications with her doctors during rounds, communications with nursing staff, and 

communications with other hospital personnel. 

25. While Ms. Mullen recovered from surgery, and less than a day after her surgery, 

on the morning of January 5, 2013, at approximately 9:00 a.m., Nurse Diane Rubio met with Ms. 

Mullen, as well as Ms. Mullen’s partner, Ms. Johnson. 

26. On information and belief, Diane Rubio, R.N., is an employee of Porter and a 

Registered Nurse. 

27. On information and belief, during Ms. Mullen’s stay at Porter, Nurse Rubio 

served in a supervising capacity at Porter. 

28. When Nurse Rubio entered Ms. Mullen’s room, a qualified sign language 

interpreter was present in the room. 

29. On information and belief, the qualified sign language interpreter present in Ms. 

Mullen’s room when Nurse Rubio entered was named “Elise.” 

30. When Nurse Rubio entered Ms. Mullen’s room, Nurse Rubio asked Elise to step 

into the hallway to have a discussion. 

31. Shortly after stepping into the hallway, Elise returned to Ms. Mullen’s room and 

informed her that Nurse Rubio demanded that she leave. 

32. Once Elise left, Nurse Rubio returned to Ms. Mullen’s room without a qualified 
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sign language interpreter available to interpret, and began speaking in English to Ms. Mullen and 

Ms. Johnson. 

33. During Nurse Rubio’s meeting with Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson, Nurse Rubio 

informed them that Porter would cease providing qualified sign language interpreter services for 

most of Ms. Mullen’s communications with its nurses and other staff. 

34. Porter did not provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services, including a 

qualified sign language interpreter, to Ms. Mullen for the meeting with Nurse Rubio. 

35. Because Porter did not provide a qualified sign language interpreter for the 

meeting with Nurse Rubio, Ms. Johnson was required to act as Ms. Mullen’s interpreter for the 

meeting with Nurse Rubio.  

36. As documented in Nurse Rubio’s notes: 

0900-0905:  Conversation with patient and significant other regarding the 

Interpreter Service and expectations: 

 

Review of process: 

Goal is to utilize interpreter when physician is rounding if staff is notified by 

physician of arrival time.  Staff will call physician to attempt correlation of 

services. 

 

Patient and significant other are to use writing tools provided by 1 North staff to 

assure productive communication and quality care. 

 

Significant other asked “ What if she refuses to use tool”? [sic]  This RN 

explained several times to patient and significant other that it would be 

documented in chart that the patient refused to communicate effectively with tools 

provide. 

 

This RN explained that the interpreter services were expensive and that our 

resources had been exhausted. 

This RN offered the patient and significant other the opportunity to pay out of 

pocket for the services, which they declined. 
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This RN discussed the need to effectively communicate with staff and the need to 

utilize the tools provided, due to the fact that when patient and significant other 

use sign language and not use tools provided there is delay in treatment and break 

in communication.  Discussion with patient and significant other on how this is a 

disadvantage for the staff caring for patient. 

 

Agreement by patient and significant [sic] to utilize tools provided for 

communication and that the refusal to utilize tools would be documented in chart 

as so. 

 

37. According to Nurse Rubio’s notes, Porter’s provision of qualified sign language 

interpreters was contingent upon Ms. Mullen’s physician notifying Porter staff of his arrival time 

with sufficient time for it to secure interpreter services. 

38. According to Nurse Rubio’s notes, Ms. Mullen was required to communicate via 

written notes. 

39. According to Nurse Rubio’s notes, when Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson indicated 

their displeasure with being required to use written communication, Nurse Rubio threatened to 

document instances of Ms. Mullen’s refusal to use written communication. 

40. Nurse Rubio’s threats to document Ms. Mullen’s refusal to use written 

communication insinuated that such documentation would result in unspecified negative 

consequences. 

41. Nurse Rubio’s threats to document Ms. Mullen’s refusal to use written 

communication caused Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson to fear that Porter would retaliate against 

them if they refused to rely solely on written communication. 

42. Prior to January 5, 2013, during times that a qualified sign language interpreter 

was not present, Ms. Johnson would occasionally interpret for Ms. Mullen and Porter staff; 
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however, such interpretation was not complex or lengthy, did not require specialized medical 

terminology and phraseology, and did not involve sensitive or personal information or 

communication. 

43. Ms. Johnson is not a qualified sign language interpreter. 

44. According to Nurse Rubio’s notes, Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson were required to 

stop communicating between themselves in ASL and required to communicate in writing. 

45. According to Nurse Rubio’s notes, continued communication in ASL between 

Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson would result in delays in treatment and breaks in communication, 

which would disadvantage staff in caring for Ms. Mullen. 

46. Nurse Rubio’s statement that continued use of ASL would result in delays, 

communication issues and a lower quality of care from Porter staff caused Ms. Mullen and Ms. 

Johnson to fear that Porter would retaliate against them if they refused to rely solely on written 

communication. 

47. Following their meeting with Nurse Rubio, Porter did not provide Ms. Mullen 

with qualified sign language interpreters for any further communications. 

48. As a result of Porter’s refusal to provide Ms. Mullen with qualified sign language 

interpreters and threats to retaliate if she refused to rely solely on written communication with 

Porter staff, Ms. Mullen was unable to communicate effectively with Porter staff or with her 

physician during rounds, from January 5, 2013 through her discharge on January 10, 2013. 

49. Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson were intimidated into communicating with Porter 

staff and Ms. Mullen’s physicians primarily in writing. 
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50. Ms. Mullen has neuropathy in her hands, causing her pain and difficulty with 

writing. 

51. Ms. Mullen does not communicate effectively in written English. 

52. Frequently, between January 5, 2013 and January 10, 2013, Ms. Mullen was 

unable to understand or respond appropriately to communications with Porter staff and her 

physician in the absence of appropriate auxiliary aids and services, thus requiring Ms. Johnson to 

attempt to interpret for Ms. Mullen. 

53. Following Nurse Rubio’s meeting with Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson, Ms. 

Johnson remained at the hospital around-the-clock to be present to attempt to assist with 

communications with Ms. Mullen. 

54. Following Nurse Rubio’s meeting with Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson, Ms. 

Johnson was often forced to interpret Porter staff’s communications with Ms. Mullen and Ms. 

Mullen’s communications with Porter staff. 

55. Ms. Mullen was in severe pain following her surgery and attempted to request 

improved pain management, being forced to utilize Ms. Johnson to interpret, but Ms. Johnson 

was unable to appropriately convey Ms. Mullen’s descriptions because Porter staff refused to 

improve Ms. Mullen’s pain management regiment. 

56. Following Nurse Rubio’s meeting with Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson, Ms. 

Johnson was often forced to interpret Ms. Mullen’s physician’s communications with Ms. 

Mullen, and Ms. Mullen’s communications with her physician. 

57. Ms. Johnson was often unable to convey medical concepts or terminology 
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effectively between Ms. Mullen and her physician and between Ms. Mullen and Porter staff. 

58. Following Nurse Rubio’s meeting with Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson, Ms. Mullen 

and Ms. Johnson often requested of Porter staff that a qualified sign language interpreter be 

provided, but Porter staff continued to refuse to provide any further interpreter services to Ms. 

Mullen. 

59. When Ms. Johnson’s physician would communicate, he would talk to Ms. 

Johnson, rather than Ms. Mullen, requiring Ms. Mullen to wait for Ms. Johnson to interpret. 

60. Prior to being discharged, Porter staff contacted Brookside in order to secure 

rehabilitation services for Ms. Mullen. 

61. On information and belief, Porter staff notified Brookside that Ms. Mullen was 

deaf prior to discharging her to Brookside’s care. 

62. On information and belief, Porter staff notified Brookside that Ms. Mullen 

requested the use of qualified sign language interpreters prior to discharging her to Brookside’s 

care. 

63. Porter staff was informed by Brookside staff that Brookside would not provide 

Ms. Mullen with a qualified sign language interpreter. 

64. Porter staff informed Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson that Brookside would not 

provide qualified sign language interpreters. 

65. Ms. Mullen attempted to inform Porter staff and her physician that she wished to 

decline inpatient rehabilitation services at Brookside, but, in the absence of a qualified sign 

language interpreter, her attempts were either not understood by, or were ignored by, Porter staff. 
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66. Ms. Johnson attempted to inform Porter staff that Ms. Mullen was attempting to 

communicate her wish to decline inpatient rehabilitation services at Brookside, but Porter staff 

ignored her attempts. 

67. During her stay at Porter, in the absence of a qualified sign language interpreter, 

and under Nurse Rubio’s threats for non-compliance, Porter staff demanded Ms. Mullen sign 

documents which, on information and belief, authorized her transfer from Porter to Brookside. 

68. The substantive content of the documents Porter staff demanded Ms. Mullen sign 

were not effectively communicated to Ms. Mullen by Porter staff. 

69. Upon discharge from Porter, on January 10, 2013, Ms. Mullen was admitted to 

Brookside in order to receive rehabilitation services. 

70. On January 10, 2013, a man wearing a Brookside uniform entered Ms. Mullen’s 

room with a wheelchair and explained that he was there to take Ms. Mullen to Brookside. 

71. Ms. Mullen and Ms. Johnson again attempted to inform the man that Ms. Mullen 

wished to decline Brookside’s services, but the man stated again that he was there to take Ms. 

Mullen to Brookside. 

72. The man then physically removed Ms. Mullen from her bed at Porter, placed her 

in the wheelchair, and then loaded the wheelchair into the Brookside vehicle and drove to 

Brookside. 

73. Neither Brookside nor Porter provided Ms. Mullen with a qualified sign language 

interpreter for her communications with the man from Brookside. 

74. Ms. Mullen was unable to effectively communicate with the man from Brookside 
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at any time. 

75. Ms. Johnson followed the Brookside vehicle in her own vehicle, but arrived after 

Ms. Mullen had been admitted and placed in a room. 

76. Ms. Mullen stayed at Brookside from the evening of January 10, 2013 through the 

morning of January 12, 2013. 

77. Brookside refused to provide Ms. Mullen with a qualified sign language 

interpreter for the entire duration of her stay at Brookside. 

78. As a result of Brookside’s refusal to provide Ms. Mullen with qualified sign 

language interpreters for her communications with Brookside staff, Ms. Mullen was unable to 

communicate effectively with Brookside staff, including her rehabilitation therapists, for the 

entirety of her stay at Brookside. 

79. As a result of Brookside’s refusal to provide Ms. Mullen with qualified sign 

language interpreters for her communications with Brookside staff, Ms. Johnson was forced to 

attempt to interpret communications between Ms. Mullen and Brookside staff. 

80. Brookside staff refused to allow Ms. Johnson to remain with Ms. Mullen around-

the-clock, rather limiting her presence to visiting hours during the day. 

81. Ms. Mullen’s communications with Brookside staff during Ms. Johnson’s 

absences were even less effective than similar communications when Ms. Johnson was present. 

82. Frequently, during Ms. Johnson’s absences, Ms. Mullen would seek to 

communicate with Brookside staff about her pain levels and need to use the restroom, but only 

the latter concern was ever addressed in Ms. Johnson’s absence. 
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83. On the morning of January 12, 2013, Ms. Mullen was discharged from Brookside. 

84. Ms. Mullen, Ms. Johnson, and other deaf and hard of hearing CCDC members 

and their companions will seek medical services from Porter. 

85. Ms. Mullen, Ms. Johnson, and other deaf and hard of hearing CCDC members 

and their companions will seek rehabilitation services from Brookside. 

86. Ms. Mullen, Ms. Johnson, and other deaf and hard of hearing individuals, 

including members of CCDC, have been harmed, and will continue to be harmed by Defendants’ 

failure to provide appropriate auxiliary aids and services to deaf and hard of hearing individuals. 

87. CCDC’s purpose is to promote independence, self-reliance, and full participation 

for people with all types of disabilities, and to combat discrimination against individuals with 

disabilities, through advocacy, education, research and training.  As a part of that purpose, 

CCDC seeks to ensure that individuals who are deaf and hard-of-hearing have access to -- and do 

not encounter discrimination in -- participating in health care services, including services while 

encountering physicians, nurses or other hospital staff and while being admitted to medical or 

hospital facilities, receiving medical care, receiving education or training regarding medical care, 

receiving discharge instructions and being discharged from medical care. 

88. CCDC engages in extensive outreach as well as advocacy and educational efforts 

to promote access for and combat discrimination against people with disabilities.  This effort and 

this purpose have been and continue to be adversely affected by Defendants’ violations of the 

ADA and Section 504. 

89. Defendants’ actions have caused and continue to cause distinct, palpable and 
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perceptible injury to CCDC.  Those injuries include, but are not limited to, those described 

herein. 

First Claim for Relief 
 (Violations of the ADA) 

 

90. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations 

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

91. Title III of the ADA provides in pertinent part: “No individual shall be 

discriminated against on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, 

services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public 

accommodation by any person who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public 

accommodation.”  42 U.S.C. § 12182(a). 

92. Public accommodations include any “health care provider, hospital, or other 

service establishment[.]”  42 U.S.C. § 12181(7)(F).   

93. Defendants are public accommodations within the meaning of the ADA. 

94. Plaintiff Mullen is an individual with a disability.  See 42 U.S.C. § 12131(2).   

95. Plaintiff Johnson is a person Defendants know is associated with Ms. Mullen.  See 

42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(1)(E). 

96. The ADA also provides:  “It shall be unlawful to coerce, intimidate, threaten, or 

interfere with any individual in the exercise or enjoyment of, or on account of his or her having 

exercised or enjoyed, or on account of his or her having aided or encouraged any other individual 

in the exercise or enjoyment of, any right granted or protected by this chapter.”  42 U.S.C. § 

12203(b). 
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97. Other CCDC members are individuals with disabilities, and known associations 

with individuals with disabilities. 

98. Defendants have discriminated against Plaintiffs on the basis of Ms. Mullen’s 

disability. 

99. Plaintiffs have been, and will continue to be, injured, damaged and aggrieved by 

Defendants’ discrimination. 

100. Plaintiffs are likely to encounter the same discriminatory policies and practices. 

101. In the absence of the injunction requested herein, Defendants will continue to 

discriminate against Plaintiffs, other deaf and hard of hearing CCDC members, and other CCDC 

members associated with individual who are deaf or hard of hearing, on the basis of disability in 

violation of Title III of the ADA and its implementing regulations. 

102. Defendants and their agents acted intentionally and with a reckless disregard for 

Plaintiffs’ civil rights. 

Second Claim for Relief 
 (Violations of Section 504) 

 

103. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the remainder of the allegations 

set forth in this Complaint as fully set forth herein. 

104. Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a), provides in 

pertinent part: 

No otherwise qualified individual with a disability in the United States . . . shall, 

solely by reason of her or his disability, be excluded from the participation in, be 

denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under any program or 

activity receiving Federal financial assistance.   
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105. On information and belief, each Defendant accepts federal financial assistance, 

including without limitation Medicaid.   

106. In addition, each Defendant is a “corporation, partnership, or other private 

organization, or sole proprietorship . . . which is principally engaged in the business of providing 

. . . health care[.]”  29 U.S.C. § 794(b)(3)(A). 

107. Section 504 explicitly incorporates the ADA’s standards for determining a 

violation.  See 29 U.S.C. § 794(d). 

108. Plaintiff Mullen is a qualified individual with a disability and has been subjected 

to discrimination by Defendants, as described in this Complaint, solely on the basis of her 

disability, including their failure to provide auxiliary aids and services in order to ensure 

effective communication. 

109. Ms. Johnson is a person associated with Ms. Mullen, and was subject to 

discrimination by Defendants on the basis of Ms. Mullen’s disability, as described in this 

Complaint. 

110. Other deaf and hard of hearing CCDC members will be subject to discrimination 

by Defendants solely on the basis of their disabilities, including Defendants’ failure to provide 

appropriate auxiliary aids and services in order to ensure effective communication. 

111. Defendants and their agents acted intentionally and with a reckless disregard for 

Plaintiffs’ civil rights. 

112. Plaintiffs have been injured, damaged and aggrieved by and will continue to be 

injured, damaged and aggrieved by Defendants’ discrimination. 

Case 1:14-cv-00203   Document 1   Filed 01/24/14   USDC Colorado   Page 15 of 17



16 
 

Prayer for Relief 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray: 

1. That this Court assume jurisdiction; 

2. That this Court issue an Order declaring Defendants to be in violation of Section 

504 and Title III of the ADA; 

3. That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to provide qualified sign 

language interpreters or other appropriate auxiliary aids or services in order to ensure effective 

communication with deaf and hard-of-hearing individuals. 

4. That this Court awards Plaintiffs damages. 

5. That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and 

6. That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper 

and equitable. 

JURY DEMAND:  Plaintiffs request this case be heard by a jury. 
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Respectfully Submitted, 

/s/ Kevin W. Williams       

Kevin W. Williams 

Andrew C. Montoya 

Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition 

655 Broadway, Suite 775 

Denver, Colorado 80203 

Phone: (303) 839-1775 

Facsimile: (720) 210-9819 

E-mail: kwilliams@ccdconline.org 

E-mail: amontoya@ccdconline.org 

 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 

Dated: January 24, 2014 

Address of Plaintiffs Cynthia Mullen and Debbie Johnson 

1055 Highland Ridge Way, Apt 106 

Castle Rock, CO 80109 

 

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition: 

 

655 Broadway, Suite 775 

Denver, Colorado 80203 
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